65

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JACKSONVILLE ELECTRIC AUTHORITY,

Petitioner,

vs.

DRAPER'S **EGG** AND POULTRY CO., INC., a Florida Corporation,

Respondent.

SID J. WHITE

APR 12, 1989

CLECK, SUPREMIL COURT

⋫O. 7,3,259

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL THE FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS AND APPENDIX

JAMES L. HARRISON GENERAL COUNSEL

STEVEN E. ROHAN ASSISTANT COUNSEL

LEONARD S. MAGID ASSISTANT COUNSEL

715 Towncentre
421 West Church Street
Jacksonville, Florida 32202
(904) 630-4900

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER JACKSONVILLE ELECTRIC AUTHORITY

TABLE **OF** CONTENTS

	PAGE

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

All references to the Appellant, Jacksonville Electric Authority, will be made by referring to it as JEA.

The Appellee, Draper's Egg and Poultry Co., Inc., a Florida corporation, will be referred to as Draper's.

All references to the Record on Appeal will be as follows: (R-).

All references to the Transcript of Testimony will be as follows:

(Tr-).

All references to documentary evidence will be referred to, for example, follows: (Pl.Ex.1)(Plaintiff's Exhibit 1).

Plaintiff's Exhibits 1-6 in evidence can be found in the Appendix to this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 31, 1986, Draper's filed a Complaint for Declaratory Relief. The Complaint sought a determination of whether Draper's was liable for accrued undercharges for public utility services (R-1). On April 21, 1986, the JEA filed an Answer and a Counterclaim (R-26). The counterclaim sought judgment for \$297,303.85 for unbilled but consumed sewage services. On May 15, 1987, trial was held. On July 8, 1987, the Trial Court entered its Final Judgment for Draper's (R-70). The Court found the Draper's defenses of accord and satisfaction and estoppel were well founded and the JEA should recover nothing.

This cause was appealed to the District Court of Appeal where in a unanimous decision the Court reversed the finding of an estoppel and allowed the JEA to recover a portion of the accrued undercharges; and in a 2-1 decision upheld the Trial Court's finding of a valid accord and satisfaction defense. Discretionary review was sought in this Court which was granted on February 22, 1989.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The JEA is a public utility that provides water and sewer services to the public. Draper's is an egg and poultry business using a great deal of water in its operations. Some of this water is provided by JEA and some is obtained from well water (Tr-92). Draper's pays the JEA for JEA-provided water and all sewage service. Sewage billing is based on water usage that is discharged into the sewer system (Tr-15, 16).

JEA bills Draper's for water and sewer use in three accounts (Tr-92-94). One account is for the billing of water and sewage usage arising from the use of JEA water Account #61760-02400-0001-6-00-W (hereinafter Account "6"). This account utilizes five (5) meters. One of the five meters calculates the total flow of JEA water (Tr-94). The other four are sewer "deduct" meters calculating JEA water that Draper's does not discharge into the sewer. When credited against total water flow, the correct charge for sewage is determined.

The remaining two accounts, Account #61760-02400-0002-5-00-W (hereinafter Account "5") and Account #61760-02400-0000-7-00-W (hereinafter Account "7"), bill sewer charges based on the amount of water pumped by separate pumps from Draper's well that flows into the sewer (Tr-94). Two meters measure the amount of water that is pumped out of a well and into the sewer from two separate pumps so that the appropriate charge can be made to Draper's for the water discharged into the sewer system (Tr-92-94).2

After receiving the December 1984 monthly water and sewer bills, Draper's questioned the amount charged in Account "7" (Pl.Ex.l). In

¹ Water that is not charged for sewage, for example, is water for the making of ice that leaves the plant without returning to the sewer (Tr-12).

² There is no water charge for well water (Tr-13).

January 1985, Draper's called JEA to ask about its bill, and Ms. Peggy McCullough, a Customer Representative of JEA, advised Draper's that the billing transpired over a hundred and fifty seven day period and that is why it seemed unusually high (Tr-137). JEA's treatment of Draper's communication as well as the account questioned, was documented in JEA's letter to Draper's dated January 14, 1985:

Re: Water Service acct. 61760-02400-0000-7-00-W

Your *inquiry* regarding the 12/7/84 billing has been referred to me by Mr. Rigdon of our Meter Reading Department.

I have placed a non pay hold on your account to allow time for this **billing inquiry** response to reach you. If you need to discuss the **billing or** request an extension of time to make your payment, the service will not be in danger of being discontinued. Please contact me if I can be of any further assistance, 633-4913. (emphasis added)

(Pl.Ex. 1)

Draper's had replaced a meter and the account had not been billed for five months (Pl.Ex. 1). Draper's then requested that a credit balance from Account "6" be transferred to Account "7" (Tr-98,99, Pl.Ex.2). Draper's also asked for a letter stating the total balance owed (Tr-124). On March 7, 1985, JEA forwarded a letter to Draper's reflecting this transfer and the balances of record on all three accounts. The letter stated:

Our records reflect these balances for your three (3) water accounts:

61760-02400-0000-7-00-W	\$25,886.64
61760-02400-0001-6-00-W	- 4,633.49
61760-02400-0002-5-00-W	714.42

We are transferring the credit balance of \$4,633.49, per your request, on the account located at 2400 McCoy Bv. #1 to your account listed at 2400 McCoy Bv. The

transferring of this credit will reduce the current balance of \$25,886.64 to \$21,253.15.

Enclosed for your convenience are duplicate bills for the two accounts with debit balances, for a total due of \$21,967.57. Once these payments and the transfer of the credit balance has (sic) been posted to your account they will be paid in full through the February 19, 1985 meter readings.

We hope that this information and duplicate bills are of assistance to you. Should you need more information please feel free to contact us at 633-5000.

(Tr-100, Pl.Ex. 3)

Draper's then sent a check to the JEA dated March 19, 1985, in the amount of \$21,253.15 (Tr-101-102); not the total due of \$21,967.57 stated in the letter but rather the amount due on Accounts "6" and "7" of \$21,253.15.

Draper's had typed the following words on the back of the check:

"Payment in full through February 19, 1985 for all water and sewer charge for Draper's Egg and Poultry Co., Inc. 2400 McCoy Blvd., Jacksonville, Florida."

(Tr-101, Pl.Ex. 4) JEA disregarded the notation, and forwarded another letter, dated March 22, 1985, requesting the balance in Account "5" of \$714.42 which Draper's had failed to include in the previous payment. This letter stated:

In reviewing our records, we noted your water account, #61760-02400-0002-5-00-W located at 2400 McCoys Boulevard #2 has a balance due of \$714.42. Accounts must be kept current in order for us to continue service to our customers.

We appreciate your cooperation in this matter and are looking forward to your payment in full by April 9, 1985 so that no further action will be necessary by us.

Please use the enclosed envelope sending your check, as it will expidite (sic) posting to your account.

Should you have any questins (sic) concerning this matter, please call Commercial Accounts at 633-4040. (emphasis added)

(Pl.Ex. 5). Thereafter, Draper's sent JEA a check for the \$714.42 (Tr-102). This check did not contain any notation **on** its endorsement side.

One month after these payments, in April of 1985 (Tr-19), the JEA discovered, in Account "5", the unquestioned account which required the payment of the \$714.42 (See Pl.Exs. 3 & 6), a meter reading logging error that had existed since November of 1983. This had resulted in billing mistakes from November of 1983 through March of 1985 (Pl.Ex. 6). It was discovered that a new sewer "charge" meter for Account "5" had been mislogged by a meter reader as a sewer "deduct" meter for Account "6" and vice versa (Pl.Ex.6). This resulted in significant monthly underbillings to Draper's. Once the meter number was written on the wrong page, each month the meter reader merely went back to the meter number that was on the page and matched it to the meter and recorded the reading (Tr-48). Although the meter may have been read by a different person each month, the error was not readily apparent (Tr-79).

Actual consumption, however, had been recorded off the meter (Tr-86). The billing for Account "5" was recalculated after April of 1985 using the correct meter sequence. The rebilling was sent to Draper's in November of 1985, and it covered the period from December 1983 through April 1985, when the error was discovered, as well as the period from April 1985 through October 1985, when final calculations and investigations were being made (Pl.Ex.6). Due to the size of the rebilling, JEA took considerable time in verifying the new findings and the recalculations (Tr-52). During the time period from April 1985 until October 1985, Ms. Terry Bennett, a JEA Customer Service Supervisor, spoke several times with Mr. Jim Hudson, a representative of Draper's, as

the details of the rebilling were being worked out (Tr-52).

Draper's did not dispute that the charged services claimed were furnished to it. The resulting miscalculations from this error caused underbillings of \$297,303.85 (Tr-47, 77). Draper's, nevertheless, refused to pay for the undercharges and the litigation resulted.

in the control of the control of the series

SUMMARY OP ARGUMENT

In December of **1984** Draper's received **a** bill in Account "7", one of its three accounts, that was unusually large because the account had not been billed for five months. Draper's questioned the bill, the bill was explained and the indebtedness was paid in March of **1985**.

In April of 1985 a meter logging error was uncovered in Account "5", a separate account with Draper's, and a corrected bill was issued in November of 1985. Draper's raised the defense of accord and satisfaction because of a restrictive endorsement clause placed on a check delivered to the JEA. Both the Trial Court and a majority of the District Court of Appeal agreed.

A finding of accord and satisfaction is not supported by the evidence or the law for six reasons. First, Draper's check to the JEA was but payment on a known indebtedness. The common law states that mere payment cannot form the basis for an accord and satisfaction.

Second, an accord requires a meeting of the minds. There is no evidence that the parties intended to compromise undiscovered indebtedness.

Third, the December 1984 questioning of that bill did not constitute a dispute, one of the elements of an accord. A mere refusal to pay cannot create a dispute that does not exist in fact. Here, there was not even a refusal to pay, but rather just the questioning of the accuracy of the bill. Since there was no dispute, there could be no accord.

Fourth, an accord is a substitute contract supported by consideration. The record is devoid of any evidence of consideration in this case. A bill was issued and was paid. No further consideration for the relinquishment of indebtedness was given.

Fifth and sixth, even if the 1984 inquiry resulted in an accord, the April 1985 billing discovery resulted in a dispute that was separate in both time (six months) and subject matter (different accounts). The law in Florida states that there can be no accord where the disputes are so separated.

Even if an accord and satisfaction can be deduced from the facts, Corporation De Gestion Ste-Foy, Inc. v. Florida Power and Light Company, 385 So.2d 124 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980), pronounces the universally accepted principle that public policy prohibits a customer from using such a defense against a public utility. Corporation and its progeny govern the case sub judice.

The First District majority decision should be reversed. The dissent of Judge Ervin is supported by the facts and law and should be adopted.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

POINT I

CAN FULL PAYMENT OF A BILLING CONSTITUTE AN ACCORD AND SATISFACTION PRECLUDING RECOVERY FOR SUBSEQUENTLY DISCOVERED UNDERBILLINGS?

POINT 11

the contract of the second of

CAN AN ACCORD AND SATISFACTION BE FOUND WITHOUT A LEGITIMATE DISPUTE OR CONSIDERATION?

POINT 111

CAN AN ACCORD AND SATISFACTION BE REACHED WHERE ALLEGED DISPUTES ARE SEPARATED BY TIME AND DISTINGUISHED BY SUBJECT MATTER?

POINT IV

IS AN ACCORD AND SATISFACTION A VALID DEFENSE TO COLLECTION **OF** CHARGES FOR PUBLIC UTILITY SERVICES AS A MATTER OF PUBLIC POLICY?

POINT I

FULL PAYMENT OF A BILLING DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN ACCORD AND SATISFACTION PRECLUDING RECOVERY FOR SUBSEQUENTLY DISCOVERED UNDERBILLINGS.

The Legal Concept of "Payment" vs. "Accord and Satisfaction"

A

"Payment" is the Performance of an Obligation

An accord and satisfaction is generally the acceptance of something different from, and often less than, what may be legally enforced. Chappell v. Nalle, 119 Fla. 701, 160 So. 867 (1935). An accord and satisfaction discharges an existing contract by performance of terms other than those originally agreed upon. (A new contract). State Road Department v. Houdaille Industries, Znc, 237 So.2d 270 (Fla. 1st DCA 1970). Payment, on the other hand, is the performance of an existing contract in accordance with its terms. Zn Re Thourez' Estate, 166 So.2d 476, 478 (Fla. 2d DCA 1964). Therefore, payment differs from an accord and satisfaction, in that payment is the fulfillment of an obligation without the creation of a new agreement.3

The First District Court below made no attempt to distinguish a payment from an accord. Rather, the Court stated simply:

By negotiating payment in full the parties effected an accord and satisfaction of the water and sewer charges as of February 19, 1985.

³ Bassett v. Bassett, 297 N.Y.S. 2d 292, 293 (N.Y. Sup.Ct. 1969)(". . it is familiar law that payment of an admitted liability is not payment of or consideration for an alleged accord and satisfaction ..."). Del Serrone v. Avon Township, 257 N.W. 2d 667, 668 (Mich. App. 1977)("The mere payment of an undisputed claim does not establish an accord and satisfaction.") Same see Blaylock v. Akins, 619 S.W.2d 207,210 (Tex. Cir. App. 1981).

Jacksonville Electric Authority v. Draper's, 531 So.2d 373, 374 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), hereinafter Jacksonville Electric. This statement does not correctly set forth the law, is subject to misinterpretation by trial and appellate courts alike, and should be overturned.

Company, 385 So.2d 124 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980), hereinafter "Corporation", and Rock Springs Land Company v. West 281 So.2d 555 (Pla. 4th DCA 1973), are classic "payment" cases holding that the full payment of a known (but mistaken) balance does not produce an accord and satisfaction which will prohibit the collection of the correct indebtedness.

In *Rock Springs Land Company, supra*, the defendant asked the plaintiff to furnish the amount necessary to pay the balance due on an installment contract for the sale of real property. The plaintiff then advised

believed incorrectly that full payment had been made.

⁴ The First District Court of Appeal relied on two cases to support its majority conclusion of accord and satisfaction as to water and sewer charges not billed. The first case is easily distinguished on its facts. In McGehee, v. Mata, 330 So.2d 248 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1976), the Plaintiff demanded \$7,888.15 from the defendant. The defendant tendered a compromise, a check for \$3,000.00 with the express condition that a release be returned. The plaintiff cashed the check, refused to execute a release, and commenced suit. Accordingly, the Court properly found an accord and satisfaction as an appropriate defense because of the acceptance of a partial payment of an amount believed to be owed, forwarded with the debtor's express intent to extinguish any remaining obligation. In the present case, however, there is no indication that Draper's tender was given either to compromise known billings or to discharge unknown underbillings. In fact, at the moment of tender of payment, both parties

The second case cited by the First District Court was *Pino. v. Lopez*, 361 So.2d 192 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978). The Fourth District Court of Appeal, commenting on *Pino*, properly announced it could not be determined from the reported decision whether the case was even decided on the merits or because of a procedural defect. *Jobear*, *Inc. v. Dewind Machinery Co.*, 402 So.2d 1357, 1358 Note 1 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). Hence, the Pino decision does not support a legal position for finding an accord and satisfaction in the present cause.

defendant of the amount due. The defendant paid this amount with a check marked "paid in full." Several months later, the plaintiff discovered an error in the amount given, leaving further sums due. The plaintiff demanded the sum due and the defendant refused.

In *Rock Springs Land Company*, the wrong figure given was the result of a unilateral mistake. At trial, the plaintiff's president testified how he had looked at the wrong sheet of an amortization schedule in making the error. The Fourth District Court reasoned that there was no basis in evidence to conclude the lesser amount was intended to be accepted as a satisfaction in full, irrespective of what the true balance might be.

Similarly, in the case at bar, JEA furnished water and sewer service to Draper's. Draper's complained about a November 1984 billing statements, requested a transfer of a credit and debit on its accounts and asked for a current balance. JEA stated the amount due (prior to the April 1985 discovery of the underbillings). Draper's then paid in full the amount of record. This performance by Draper's did not seek to create a new agreement to compromise any debt, either known or unknown. The payments at issue were only intended to fulfill the existing obligation, a "payment".

As in *Rock Springs* Land *Company*, there is no proof of an intent to compromise the balance due to any figure other than that which was mathematically correct and consistent with services provided. In both cases, the

⁵ This inquiry concerned Account #61760-02400-0000-7-00-W (Account "7") whereas the subsequently discovered underbillings were found in Account #61760-02400-0002-5-00-W (Account "5"). The significance of this will be discussed in Point III B *infra*. However, for the purposes of this argument the distinction is irrelevant.

"payment in full" endorsements merely signified, a recognition of a payment of the known obligations and were not legal "accords".

In *Corporation*, *supra*, the Third District Court of Appeal held that the payment of an individual monthly utility bill does not constitute an accord and satisfaction preventing the collection of services erroneously not billed. The facts in *Corporation* are squarely on point even though the First District Court of Appeal held that *Corporation* should not be extended to the case at bar.6 In *Corporation*, as in the case *sub judice*, the utility misread meters, negligently underbilled, and there was no <u>dispute</u> that the services were provided. The fact that the *Corporation* bills were paid without an inquiry is a distinction without substance and is addressed in Point II A.

In summary, Draper's fulfilled a known obligation in March of 1985. It did not enter into a new and superceding contract intended to satisfy unknown charges for services. A **payment** occurred, not an accord and satisfaction.

В

An Accord and Satisfaction Requires the Intent to Discharge an Existing: Obligation with the Intent to Create a New Contract

In order for a court to find an accord and satisfaction the court must find that the parties <u>mutually intended</u> to effect a settlement of an existing dispute by entering into a superseding or substitution agreement. *Goslin v. Racal Data Communications*, Inc., 468 So.2d 390 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985). *Rudick v. Rudick*, 403 So.2d 1091 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981).

⁶In the fourth argument of this brief, the JEA specifically deals with the application of *Corporation* to the law affecting public utilities.

The majority opinion of the First District Court of Appeal inferred that after Draper's made payment in full of the known existing debt in March of 1985, a new agreement between JEA and Draper's arose to replace the former obligation. This suggests that the "new" meeting of the minds encompassed the settlement of billings not yet discovered. The Trial Court and the District Court of Appeal accepted Draper's after the fact proposition that the tender payment for the known charges was conditioned on the release of undiscovered debt.

This scenario is legally unacceptable when viewed in the context of the surrounding facts and circumstances of the entire transaction. The conclusion that Draper's checks were intended as "payments" only, is supported by the documentary and testimonial evidence at trial.

In JEA's March 7, 1985, letter to Draper's the JEA stated:

Enclosed for your convenience are duplicate bills for the two accounts with debit balances, for a total due of \$21,967.57. *Once these payments* and the transfer of the credit balance have been posted to your account they will be paid in full through the February 19, 1985 meter readings.

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