0/A a.6.89

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 73,259

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The record contains sufficient evidence of the elements of the defenses of accord and satisfaction and estoppel to the JEA's action to recover unbilled water and sewer charges.

As to the accord and satisfaction defense, the record shows a dispute pertaining to all three of Mr. Draper's water and sewer accounts with two communications between the JEA and Mr. Draper, The March 7, 1985, letter and the notation on the March 19, 1985, check clearly manifests the parties' mutual assent to resolve all of Draper's water and sewer charges through February 19, 1985. Furthermore, the evidence, testimony, and inferences therefrom show that the JEA knew or should have known of the unbilled amounts at that time.

As to the estoppel defense, the record shows unconscionable conduct by the JEA in failing to impart the knowledge of the underbillings to Draper, which conduct was relied on by Draper in losing the opportunity to mitigate the detrimental effects of the JEA's billing error.

Under the facts of this case, both of these defenses are available to Draper, as a matter of law. When a public utility seeks to recover underbilled amounts, the defense of accord and satisfaction can apply where it is based on a dispute. Also, an estoppel may arise from the utility's egregious conduct in failing to notify the customer after it knew of the negligent

underbilling. This differs from an estoppel merely from the negligent underbilling.

The JEA is asking this Court to re-evaluate the weight of the evidence and credibility of the witnesses and then asking this Court to rely on case law which is not applicable to the facts.

The First District majority decision upholding the trial court's finding of a valid accord and satisfaction defense should be affirmed. The First District's decision reversing the trial court's finding of estoppel should be reversed.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

Point I

THE RECORD CONTAINS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE TRIAL COURT'S AS WELL AS THE DISTRICT COURT'S FINDING OF AN ACCORD AND SAFISFACTION.

Point II

THE HOLDING OF De GESTION STE-FOY, INC. v. FLORIDA POWER AND LIGHT COMPANY,

385 So.2d 124 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980) DOES NOT APPLY TO THE FACTS OF THE INSTANT CASE.

Point III

THERE IS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE IN **THE** RECORD TO SUPPORT **THE** TRIAL COURT'S FINDING **OF** ESTOPPEL.

ARGUMENT

Point I

THE RECORD CONTAINS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE TRIAL COURT'S AS WELL AS THE DISTRICT COURT'S FINDING OF AN ACCORD AND SATISFACTION

Sufficient evidence supports the trial court's finding as well as the District Court's holding of an accord and satisfaction. Petitioner's argument defies the basic precepts of appellate review. The weight of the evidence and the credibility of the witnesses are questions to be determined by the trier of fact, and it is improper for the reviewing court to substitute its judgment for that rendered below in respect to such 3 Fla.Jur.2d, Appellate Review, § 343. Furthermore. the conclusions of the trial court come before the appellate courts clothed with the presumption of correctness and, in testing the accuracy of such conclusions, the appellate courts should interpret the evidence and all reasonable inferences and deductions capable of being drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to sustain those conclusions. 3 Fla.Jur.2d, Appellate Review, \$ 344.

The trial court concluded, "after considering all of the evidence and the inferences to be drawn therefrom," that an accord and satisfaction occurred on or before March 19, 1985, between Draper and the JEA, precluding collection of the underbilling from December 16, 1983, through February 19, 1985 (Final

Judgment, page 7; Appendix A-7). The record supports these conclusions.

Specifically, in paragraphs 5 and 6 of the Final Judgment, the trial court found that a dispute arose between the JEA and Draper over the water billings (Final Judgment; page 2, A-2) and that the parties attempted to resolve that dispute by a series of correspondence and telephone calls concerning Draper's three water accounts (Final Judgment, pages 2-3; Appendix A-2, 3). The trial court reached these conclusions from the testimony and exhibits and the inferences to be drawn therefrom. (See Statement of Facts, supra).

In paragraph 6, the Court also found that Mr. Draper'a March 7, 1985, telephone call to the JEA was to obtain the balances on the three accounts after several months of haggling back and forth with the JEA. Furthermore, the Court concluded that, as a result of that telephone call, the JEA sent a letter dated March 7, 1985, to Draper setting forth the balances due on Draper's three water accounts. The letter stated that once the sum of \$21,967.57 was paid, Draper would be paid in full through the February 19, 1985, meter readings. That amount was paid and accepted by the JEA.

In paragraph 7 of the Final Judgment, the Court found that the JEA witnesses acknowledged that a literal reading of the March 7, 1985, letter would indicate that once Draper made the payments called for in the letter, Draper's accounts with respect to its water billings would be paid in full through the February

19, 1985, meter readings. These findings are also supported in the record. (See Statement of Facts, supra.)

In paragraph 10 of the Final Judgment, the Court concluded that in March of 1985, the JEA knew or, in the exercise of reasonable care, should have known of the error when it accepted Draper's check in full settlement of the Draper's accounts as of February 19, 1985. The JEA's knowledge of the actual amount of services consumed by Draper is a reasonable inference from the evidence of the tremendous difference in consumption noted on the actual billings and the testimony of Ms. Bennett and Mr. Hammontree concerning the availability of information to the JEA (Final Judgment, page 4; Appendix A-4).

In its brief, the JEA is asking this Court to ignores the testimony and exhibits and to reweigh the evidence and reassess the credibility of the witnesses.

In its brief, petitioner totally ignores the existence of a genuine dispute that arose between Draper and JEA. The record is replete with evidence that a genuine dispute occurred. Draper, from the outset, disputed the amount of the bill on all three meters. Further, JEA characterizes the underbillings as undiscovered and unknown. Again, the evidence in the record reveals that the error discovered by the JEA in April of 1985 had been in existence in the computers and should have been known to the JEA from at least December of 1983 and could have been discovered in December of 1983, in 1984, or any time before March of 1985. (See Statement of Facts, supra.)

Petitioner's reliance on the case of Rock Springs Land Company v. West, 281 So.2d 555 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973), is mis-Petitioner fails to point out to this Court that in the Rock Springs Land Company case, the Court concluded that there had never been any dispute or disagreement with the buyers as to the balance due, nor was the mistake a result of inexcusable lack of due care, nor was the mistake one upon which the buyers had Just the opposite is true in the relied to their detriment. instant case. There was a genuine dispute between Draper and JEA which ultimately led to the payment in full for all billings through February of 1985. The fact that the JEA failed to discover the correct balances was the result of inexcusable lack of due care on its part, and obviously, Draper relied on the figures given it in February of 1985 to pay the balances in full as of that date.

JEA attempts to attach significance to the fact that Draper sent two checks to pay the balance of its account to JEA. The fact is that Draper, through oversight, failed to send the total amount due in its first check but remitted the balance after being notified of that fact by the JEA. This fact does not vitiate the doctrine of accord and satisfaction reached between Draper and JEA. It is apparent from the evidence that JEA and Draper, having had a dispute over the amount of the water and sewer bills, reached a mutual settlement of an existing dispute. The fact that JEA, through its own inexcusable neglect and incompetence, failed to discover its mistake should not render

meaningless the accord and satisfaction that was reached.

Machinery Co., 402 So.2d 1357 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). Jobean cited by the JEA is distinguishable from the present case. In that case, the Court held that the plaintiff's acceptance of a check in payment of a claim for parts and labor which expressly said that its endorsement would constitute a full and complete release of the defendant did not act as an accord and satisfaction as to a rental claim of the plaintiff against the defendant. Here, we do not have claims for two separate types of items, such as parts and labor versus rental. The discussions, correspondence, and consequent check from Draper pertain to the same water and sewer services which are the subject of the underbilling and this lawsuit.

In <u>Jobear</u>, the endorsement did not refer to the rental claim in question. In the present case, Draper's check endorsement referred to "payment in full through February 19, 1985, for <u>all</u> water and sewer charge for Draper's Egg and Poultry Co., Inc., 2400 McCoy Blvd., Jacksonville." (Emphasis added.) Furthermore, the <u>Jobear</u> court noted that the endorsement on the check was not accompanied by any explanatory letter as in other cases finding an accord and satisfaction. Here, the JEA wrote Draper a letter stating that once the sum of \$21,967.57 was posted to Draper's account, Draper would be paid in full through the February 19, 1985, meter readings. This March 7, 1985, letter explicitly referred to the balances for all three of Draper's accounts. Ac-

cordingly, the <u>Jobear</u> case lends no support to the JEA's argument.

JEA attempts to characterize the disputes between Draper and JEA as two separate disputes, one occurring in March of 1985, and the second in November of 1985. Again, JEA overlooks the fact that the underbilling was known or should have been known to JEA in March of 1985 when it entered into the accord and satis-The claims for water and sewer were not separated by time as JEA would suggest, but rather were known to the JEA at the time it entered into the accord and satisfaction in March of 1985. JEA further attempts to classify the underbillings into separate accounts. Again, it overlooks the fact that the water bill that was paid in full by Draper included all three accounts by number (Tr-100, Px-3). The March 7, 1985, letter and the quotation on the back of Draper's check dated March 19, 1985, indicated an intention to settle all accounts for water and sewer services prior to February 19, 1985. These communications clearly establish that the dispute involved all water and sewer services through February 19, 1985, and not just one numbered account. The trial court, after hearing all of the evidence, concluded that the discussions and correspondence with the JEA concerning the billing discrepancy referred to in the March 7, 1985, letter and the \$297,303.85 underbilling were essentially The record supports this conclusion, because the same dispute. the same water and sewer service consumption by Draper and the same accounts were involved. The above communications

evidence of a meeting of the minds of the parties concerning the accord and satisfaction. In determining whether there is a meeting of the minds, the manifestation of the intention of mutual assent controls rather than any unexpressed intention. is not the intention existing in the minds of the parties which governs, but the intention as expressed by the language used. 11 Fla.Jur.2d, Contracts, § 13, In addition to other evidence in the record, the March 7, 1985, letter and the check dated March 19, 1985, clearly express an intention to settle all accounts for water and sewer services prior to February 19, 1985. The elements of an accord and satisfaction were complied with. As set forth in Lovorn v. Iron Wood Products Corp,, 362 So.2d 196 (Miss. 1978), and 1 Am.Jur.2d, Accord and Satisfaction, § 1, something of value, \$21,967.57, was given to the JEA in full satisfaction of its demand for payment for water and sewer services through February 19, 1985; the JEA's March 7, 1985, correspondence indicated that if that amount were paid, it would be accepted in satisfaction for all water and sewer services consumed prior to February 19, 1985; the notation on the back of Draper's check, when considered with the correspondence and other surrounding circumstances, was bound to induce an understanding by the JEA that if it accepted the check, it accepted it subject to the condition of accord and satisfaction; and the JEA accepted the \$21,967.57 payment.

The trial court, after listening to the testimony, observing the demeanor of the witnesses and reviewing the documents, con-

cluded that the JEA knew or at least in the exercise of reasonable care, should have known of the billing errors at the time of the accord and satisfaction. As noted above, the evidence supports the finding that the JEA knew of the underbilling at the time of the accord and satisfaction. However, even if the JEA did not have such knowledge but should have had such knowledge, the accord and satisfaction is not defeated. It is not grounds to defeat an accord and satisfaction which is entered into in ignorance of the facts surrounding the transaction where such facts could have been ascertained by the use of due diligence. 1 Am.Jur.2d, Accord and Satisfaction, § 24. The record shows that the JEA, at the very least, should have ascertained the consumption of water and sewer services in the excercise of due diligence.

The evidence and testimony presented and the inferences to be drawn therefrom, when considered with the above-cited legal authorities, support the trial court's finding and the District Court of Appeal's affirmance of such finding with respect to the validity of the defense of accord and satisfaction present in this case.

Point II

THE HOLDING OF CORPORATION De GESTION
STE-FOY, INC. v. FLORIDA POWER AND LIGHT COMPANY,
385 So.2d 124 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980)
DOES NOT APPLY TO THE FACTS OF THE INSTANT CASE,

Petitioner relies on the case of <u>Corporation De Gestion Ste-</u> Foy, Inc. v. Florida Power and Light Company, supra, as well as other cases cited in its brief, which cases stand for the general proposition that a customer of a public utility has no defense of accord and satisfaction and estoppel.

De Gestion is distinguishable from the instant case, and therefore does not apply. In <u>De Gestion</u>, the public utility customer sought to avoid underbilled electric charges on two grounds, neither of which has been raised in the instant case. First, the customer argued that the power company was estopped from collecting amounts it had negligently underbilled. Second, it argued that an accord and satisfaction had been effected by the payment of the power company's successive monthly billings in the interim. The <u>De Gestion</u> court's rationale for rejecting the accord and satisfaction defense as expressed in footnote 2 of the opinion was that mere payment of an erroneous monthly bill does not constitute an accord because no claim was either unliquidated or in dispute. In the instant case, the accord and satisfaction was based on the trial court's finding of a dispute. As the trial court explained:

In the instant case, JEA is seeking an amount representing erroneous underbillings for a period between December 16, 1983, and October 17, 1985. However, unlike <u>De Gestion</u> or the cases cited therein, the facts in the case now before this Court reveal that in the latter part of 1984, Draper's questioned and disputed its water billings, and finally after correspondence and discussions on March 19, 1985, the JEA accepted a substantial sum of money from Draper's in full satisfaction of Draper's water billings for all three accounts through the February 19, 1985, meter readings. During the dispute with Draper's over the water bills and upon accepting Draper's check in full

satisfaction of said water bills, JEA knew, or in the exercise of reasonable care, should have known at that time of the erroneous underbillings. JEA accepted Draper's payment in March of 1985 in full satisfaction of Draper's accounts through the February, 1985 meter readings.

(Final Judgment, page 6; A-6)

The cases cited in <u>De Gestion</u> merely preclude an accord and satisfaction based solely on the payment of a public utility's successive monthly billings without an intervening dispute. The court in <u>De Gestion</u>, by its reasoning in footnote 2, suggests that the existence of such a dispute is determinative of the validity of the defense of accord and satisfaction in this situation.

In <u>West Penn Power Co. v. Nationwide Mutual Insurance Co.</u>, 209 Pa.Super. 509, 228 A.2d 218 (1967), the court explicitly limited its holding to the facts of that case. The court stated:

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